2010

# Mellor v. Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## **STATEMENT OF JURISDICTION**

This Court has jurisdiction under Utah Code Ann §78A-3-102(3)(j) and Utah R. App. P. 4(a). Judge Toomey entered a Memorandum Decision and Order denying Plaintiff Chris Ann Mellor's ("Mellor") Motion for Summary Judgment and granting the Defendants' Motion to Stay on November 1, 2010. Mellor filed her Notice of Appeal on December 1, 2010.

## **STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW**

ISSUE: The Insurers Rehabilitation and Liquidation Act ("the Act"), U.C.A. §31A-27-301 *et seq.*, provides class three distribution priority for losses incurred by insureds and federal and state governments. Mellor and the Utah Office of Recovery Services ("ORS") asserted claims for medical expenses against Wasatch Crest in liquidation but the Liquidator ruled that those claims had class six distribution priority because they were not classified elsewhere in the statute. Does the class three language include the claims of Mellor and ORS?

## **CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS, STATUTES, ORDINANCES, RULES AND REGULATIONS WHOSE INTERPRETATION IS DETERMINATIVE OF THE APPEAL OR OF CENTRAL IMPORTANCE TO THE APPEAL**

The following is central to Mellor's appeal:

- U.C.A. §31A-27-301 *et seq.*

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

This is a case brought for recovery of wrongfully denied health insurance benefits which should have been provided for Hayden under a group health benefits plan

sponsored by his father's employer and governed by the Employee Retirement Income Security Act of 1974 ("ERISA"), 29 U.S.C. §1001 *et seq.* The insurer for that employer-sponsored plan, Wasatch Crest, terminated Hayden's coverage after he became eligible for coverage from Utah State Medicaid following his catastrophic drowning accident in 2001 and denied coverage for Hayden's medical expenses. Wasatch Crest subsequently was declared insolvent and ongoing administration was appointed to the Liquidator.

Hayden's benefit claim made its way through the district court and the first Supreme Court decision ("Initial Decision") held that Wasatch Crest was required to provide COBRA continuation coverage for up to 36 months after Hayden's initial qualifying event and that his eligibility for Medicaid did not relieve Wasatch Crest of the obligation to provide that coverage. The Initial Decision further held that Mellor, as Hayden's guardian, had standing to pursue the claim against Wasatch Crest for its wrongful denial of coverage for Hayden's medical expenses. Following the Initial Decision and after a year of inaction by the Liquidator, Mellor requested the district court's ruling on the priority of the claim. Mellor asserted that the claim had a class three distribution priority because it was a claim for health benefits by an insured for which Wasatch Crest had wrongfully denied payment.

The district court erred in accepting the Liquidator's argument that Mellor's claim was not properly included as a class three distribution priority claim but fell under lower priority class six claims. Mellor seeks this Court's order that the claim, based on her own standing and her existing Collection Agreement with ORS, is properly included in class three distribution priority rather than class six.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

The essential facts in the case are undisputed and the trial court's Order consisted of conclusions of law based on those undisputed facts. Those facts are:

1. Justin Williams ("Williams") was employed by Mellor Engineering and was a participant in the group health benefits plan ("the Plan") provided by Mellor Engineering for its employees. Record, vol. 12, p. 5049.
2. Williams also elected coverage under the Plan for his wife and children. Id.
3. Williams' employment with Mellor Engineering terminated as of August, 2000. Id.
4. Williams elected COBRA continuation coverage for himself and his family after his employment ended. Id.
5. Williams and Mellor were divorced in March of 2001. Id.
6. Hayden's COBRA continuation coverage continued under the Plan following the divorce of his parents. Id.
7. Hayden's coverage under the Plan was in place on the date of his drowning accident, August 4, 2001. Id.
8. Hayden's health care providers submitted claims for payment of his medical expenses after the accident and the Plan paid claims on behalf of Hayden. Id.
9. Following the accident, Mellor applied for Medicaid coverage for Hayden and the application was granted retroactive to August 1, 2001. Id.



10. Mellor applied for Medicaid coverage for Hayden because she anticipated the possibility that the Plan would not provide coverage for all of Hayden's expenses. Record, vol. 12, p. 5189.
11. In addition, Mellor knew that Hayden's COBRA benefit would not continue indefinitely and that when it ended, she would need Medicaid assistance to pay Hayden's medical expenses. Id.
12. The Plan terminated Hayden's coverage as of August 1, 2001, and requested reimbursement of amounts already paid to Hayden's health care providers. Record, vol. 12, 5049.
13. In August, September and October of 2001, premiums continued to be paid for COBRA continuation coverage for Hayden through the Plan. Record, vol. 9, p. 3577.
14. Some time beginning in November of 2001, the Plan, through its reimbursement specialist, AGA, invoked an exclusion in the Wasatch Crest policy, asserting that Wasatch Crest had no obligation to pay for any of Hayden's medical expenses associated with the accident because there was no coverage under the policy for Hayden at any time after August 1, 2001, the date he became eligible for coverage from Medicaid. Record, vol. 9, p. 3741.
15. Wasatch Crest, through AGA, collected reimbursement from healthcare providers that it had previously paid for services provided to Hayden including \$5,987.47 from South Davis Community Hospital and \$23,809 from Primary

- Children's Hospital, and denied any obligation to cover any medical expenses that remained unpaid by the Plan. Record vol. 9, pp. 3741, 3900-04, and 3920.
16. The expenses incurred by Hayden for his medical care from the accident were extensive. The total amount paid by Medicaid paid for Hayden's medical care through October 31, 2003 was \$184,670.06. Record, vol. 11, p. 4607.
  17. Mellor stopped paying Hayden's COBRA premium in November, 2001, based on the Defendants' assertion that he was no longer eligible for coverage. Record, vol. 12, p. 5190.
  18. If Mellor had known that Hayden was, in fact, eligible to continue with COBRA benefits until July 31, 2003, she would have continued to pay his COBRA premiums. Id.
  19. Throughout the time frame at issue – from August 1, 2001 through July 31, 2003, Hayden's medical expenses were submitted to, and paid by, Medicaid. Record, vol. 12, p. 5192.
  20. The total amount of claims paid by Medicaid during the time frame when Hayden should have had COBRA continuation coverage, from August 1, 2001 through July 31, 2003, is \$181,357.51. Id.
  21. In 2002, ORS entered into a Collection Agreement with Mellor which authorized inclusion of ORS's claims for reimbursement with Mellor's claims against Wasatch Crest. Record, vol. 12, 5049.
  22. AGa communicated with ORS, the Utah state agency charged with recovering reimbursement of Medicaid funds, in August and September of 2002, about

whether Wasatch Crest was responsible to pay Hayden's medical expenses.  
Record, vol. 9, p. 3928.

23. In response to ORS's claim, AGA asserted that the claims had been properly denied and that Wasatch Crest was not obligated to reimburse Medicaid. Id.
24. On September 25, 2002, ORS entered into a collection agreement with Mellor's prior counsel, Robert Schumacher, in which ORS authorized Mellor and her counsel to represent the interests of Medicaid, as well as Mellor's and Hayden's, in pursuing payment of the denied medical expenses arising out of Hayden's accident from Wasatch Crest. Record, vol. 11, pp. 4641-4647.
25. On March 10, 2003, Mellor filed suit in the Fourth Judicial District Court for Utah County against Wasatch Crest for its "... unlawful denial of coverage on medical and health care expenses . . ." arising out of Hayden's accident.  
Record, vol. 10, p. 3959.
26. On July 11, 2003, Wasatch Crest was declared insolvent and proceedings were initiated in the Third Judicial District Court for Salt Lake County for its liquidation. Record, vol. 10, p. 3959.
27. On November 5, 2003, Mellor filed a claim in the Wasatch Crest liquidation proceeding on behalf of Hayden for payment of his medical expenses. Mellor included information in that Notice to indicate that ORS had a lien on the claim. Record, vol. 13, p. 5583.

28. In December of 2003, Mellor's attorney wrote to the Liquidator and attached an updated ORS lien to supplement Mellor's November 5, 2003 Notice of Claim. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5602-5603.
29. On September 6, 2006, counsel for ORS, Stephanie Saperstein, submitted a Notice of Representation of Medicaid Claim to the district court to further establish the agreement between ORS and Mellor. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5628-5634.
30. On August 6, 2007, the district court entered an Order Approving Referee's Findings of Fact and Recommendation Regarding Claim No. 300087 – Chris Ann Williams (Mellor); and Denying Motions of Liquidator and ULHIGA Regarding Claimant's Standing. Record, vol. 12, pp. 4939 – 4942.
31. All parties appealed and after briefing their various arguments and presenting oral argument before the Supreme Court of Utah, the Supreme Court entered its Initial Decision on January 8, 2009. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5048 – 5056.
32. The Initial Decision held that Hayden was an insured under the Wasatch Crest insurance policy at the time of his accident and during the time frame at issue in the case and that Mellor had standing to pursue the claim. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5055.
33. The matter was remitted to the district court on February 20, 2009. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5075 – 5076.

34. After Mellor's attempts to resolve the claim with the Liquidator were unsuccessful, she filed her Motion for Summary Judgment and Memorandum in Support on January 21, 2010. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5141 – 5187.
35. Concurrently with her Motion and Memorandum, Mellor prepared and submitted her own Affidavit and the Affidavit of Carrie Worthen. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5188 – 5190 and pp. 5191 – 5325 respectively.
36. Early in 2010, Wasatch Crest and the Liquidator began distribution and payment of various class two and class three claims. Mellor received no notification of any payments by Wasatch Crest or the Liquidator. *See, e.g.*, Record, vol. 12, pp. 5326 – 5327.
37. The Liquidator periodically submitted reports on the status of the liquidation to the district court. A Report on Status of Liquidation Estate for Period Ending December 31, 2009 was submitted on February 16, 2010. Record, vol. 12, pp. 5333 – 5337.
38. The Liquidator referred in his report to the Initial Decision and Mellor's recently filed Motion for Summary Judgment. The report stated that the Initial Decision had "... found in favor of the claimant on a narrow issue not necessarily dispositive of the case." Record, vol. 12, p. 5335.
39. Wasatch Crest filed its Memorandum in Support of (1) Liquidator's Motion to Dismiss, or in the Alternative, (2) Motion to Stay Claimant's Motion for Summary Judgment, or in the Alternative, (3) Memorandum in Opposition to

Claimant's Motion for Summary Judgment on April 27, 2010. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5564 – 5603.

40. Wasatch Crest continued to argue that Mellor lacked standing and the real party in interest was Medicaid. Record, vol. 13, p. 5567.
41. Wasatch Crest also argued that because Medicaid had provided payment for Hayden's medical expenses, Mellor's claim, at best, was a class six claim rather than a claim for coverage of an insured under the policy which would be classified as a class three claim. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5577 – 5579.
42. Mellor filed her Consolidated Response Memorandum in Support of her Motion for Summary Judgment and in Opposition to Defendants' Motion to Dismiss on Jun 1, 2010. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5615 – 5634.
43. Wasatch Crest filed its Reply Memorandum in Support of its various Motions on June 29, 2010. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5641 – 5653.
44. Wasatch Crest argued that Utah statute prohibited equitable restoration of Mellor's claim from a class six to a class three claim. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5647 – 5649.
45. Wasatch Crest attached as Exhibit A to its Reply Memo a "Second Amended Notice of Determination to Claimant" ("2<sup>nd</sup> Notice") dated June 29, 2010. Record, vol. 13, p. 5653.
46. The 2<sup>nd</sup> Notice was prepared and provided as an exhibit to Wasatch Crest's Reply Memo and was never formally served on Mellor or her counsel at a notification of a decision by the Liquidator. Id.

47. Oral argument was held on August 31, 2010. Record, vol. 13, p. 5689.
48. The Court issued its Memorandum and Order on November 1, 2010 (“11/1/10 Order”), granting Wasatch Crest’s Motion to Stay and denying Mellor’s Motion for Summary Judgment. Record, vol. 13, pp. 5702 – 5709.
49. The 11/1/10 Order agreed with Wasatch Crest that Mellor’s claim was a class six claim because Mellor’s claim fell outside the scope of class three status. Record, vol. 13, p. 5708.
50. Mellor filed her Notice of Appeal on December 1, 2010, Record, vol. 13, pp. 5714 – 5715.

### **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT**

The Initial Decision is clear and unambiguous in holding that Hayden was a beneficiary of the Wasatch Crest insurance policy and that Mellor has standing both for herself and ORS, to pursue reimbursement of Hayden’s claim from Wasatch Crest. The district court’s 11/1/10 Order errs because Mellor’s claim is for losses incurred under Hayden’s health insurance policy with Wasatch Crest. Whether those claims are asserted by Mellor on her own behalf or on behalf of ORS, they should be treated as class three rather than class six priority claims.

### **ARGUMENT**

#### **Mellor’s Claims Fall Within Class Three Distribution Priority Under the Act**

The Liquidator claims that because Medicaid relieved Mellor of the financial responsibilities associated with Hayden’s medical treatment, Mellor’s claims for payment under the policy are transmogrified from class three to class six claims. The Liquidator is

wrong. Class three claims are:

- (i) . . . all claims under policies for losses incurred **including:**
  - (A) **Claims of the federal, state, or local government;**
  - (B) Third party claims; . . .
- (ii) **All claims under life and health insurance and annuity policies shall be treated as loss claims.**
- (iii) That portion of any loss for which indemnification is provided by other benefits or advantages recovered or recoverable by the claimant are not included in this class, other than benefits or advantages recovered or recoverable in discharge of familial obligations of support, by way of succession at death, as proceeds of life insurance, or as gratuities . . . (emphasis added)

U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(c). Class six claims are:

- (A) Any person, including claims of state or local governments, **except those specifically classified elsewhere in this section;** . . . (emphasis added)

U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(f).

The claims presented by Mellor in her Proof of Claim dated November 5, 2003, and in her “Supplemental Exhibit” to her proof of claim dated December 8, 2003, make clear that both she and ORS asserted claims against Wasatch Crest for losses incurred. Under the terms of U.C.A. §31A-27-335(c)(1)(A), those claims included losses incurred and claims paid by the federal and state government. ORS’ Notice of Representation of Medicaid Claim, filed on September 7, 2006, also gave clear and unequivocal notice to the Liquidator of Medicaid’s interest in the Mellor claim and its right to be reimbursed under both the Utah State Medical Benefits Recovery Act, U.C.A. §26-19 et. seq., and under U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(c). The claim by Mellor, and the interest of ORS in that



claim, were known by the Liquidator for years before the final adjudication of class three claims began in January of 2010. In light of these facts, it is not credible for the Liquidator to argue that he had no timely notice of both Mellor's and Medicaid's claims.<sup>1</sup>

The Liquidator argued, and the district court ruled, that class three claims do not include "that portion of any loss for which indemnification is provided by other benefits or advantages recovered or recoverable by the claimant" under U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(c)(iii). Record, vol. 13, p. 5707 (11/1/10 Order, p. 6). However, this general language is insufficient to override the explicit reference in U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(c)(i)(A) to claims of the federal and state government for losses incurred being class three claims. If indemnification had already been provided to ORS from some other source for the amounts it paid out on Hayden's claim, perhaps the Liquidator's argument would be more persuasive. But Utah's Medicaid program is simply out-of-pocket the money it has paid for Hayden's medical bills. U.C.A. §26-19-5 makes clear that the lien ORS has for repayment of Hayden's expenses ". . . has priority over all other claims to the proceeds . . ." except claims for attorney fees and costs as authorized under U.C.A. §26-19-7(2)(c)(ii).

The Liquidator also asserts, and the 11/1/10 Order agreed, that Mellor's and ORS's claim ". . . may not be permitted to circumvent the priority classes through the use of equitable remedies," U.C.A. §31A-27-335(1)(d), and that "obligations to insurers . . . and their claims for contribution, indemnity, or subrogation, equitable or otherwise . . .,"

---

<sup>1</sup> It is particularly difficult to accept the Liquidator's argument that he had no notice of Medicaid's interest in Mellor's claim in light of the fact that the very reason Wasatch Crest cut off Hayden's coverage in 2001 was because Medicaid had begun to cover Hayden's expense arising out of his accident.

U.C.A. §31A-27-335(2)(c)(iv)(C), are excluded from class three claims. Record, vol 13, pp. 5707-5708 (11/1/10 Order, pp. 6-7). But Mellor’s claims against the Liquidator are claims on the Wasatch Crest insurance policy, a written contract, rather than equitable claims. Indeed, in 2001 Wasatch Crest initially paid, and then clawed back, medical expenses for Hayden in substantial amounts. Record, vol. 9, pp. 3741, 3900-04, and 3920.

In addition, the claims are not equitable in light of the terms of U.C.A. §26-19-7(2)(c)(ii) and the language of the United States Code mandating that, as a condition of receipt of federal dollars, the Utah state Medicaid program must maintain a program to pursue reimbursement of funds paid out by Medicaid but for which third parties are later determined to be responsible. Medicaid was designed to be the “payer of last resort” for individuals who have no other resources for payment of medical bills. Rehabilitation Association of Virginia, Inc. v. Kozlowski, 42 F.3d 1444, 1447 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 1994). To, among other things, ensure that Medicaid does not become a target of cost shifting by for-profit insurers, state agencies charged with implementing the program are required to “take all reasonable measures to ascertain the legal liability of third parties . . . to pay for care and services available under the plan.” 42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(25)(A). Federal statute also requires that the Utah State Medicaid program put in place a mechanism to actively pursue and collect from these third party payment sources: “in any case where such a legal liability is found to exist after medical assistance . . . [has been provided], the State or local agency will seek reimbursement for such assistance to the extent of such legal liability” (emphasis added). 42 U.S.C. §1396a(a)(25)(B). In the face of such clear

statutory directives, Mellor's and ORS's claims are not equitable.

It is true that the legal effect of Hayden's qualification for Medicaid coverage was to eliminate any ability of his health care providers to bill Hayden or his mother, Mellor, for any expenses associated with Hayden's medical treatment above and beyond the amount paid under the Medicaid payment schedules in place at the time. However, in light of the Initial Decision in this case, Medicaid should never have stepped in and paid Hayden's medical expenses at all. The Initial Decision establishes that Wasatch Crest, rather than Medicaid, should have paid Hayden's medical expenses. Had Wasatch Crest acted as they should have in 2001, Mellor and Hayden would not have been shielded from receiving bills for the full cost of Hayden's medical treatment. Wasatch Crest would have received those bills and would have paid them as required under the insurance policy regardless of any involvement by Medicaid.

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