2010

Mellor v. Wasatch Crest Mutual Insurance : Brief of Appellee

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The common thread in this case is Mellor's disregard for the controlling Utah statutes, rules, and case law:

1. Under clear court rules and well-established case law, this Court lacks appellate jurisdiction over the district court's non-final Memorandum Decision and Order. An order denying a motion for summary judgment and confirming the

existence of a stay is not a final judgment. Mellor agrees that there is no legal authority for filing this appeal on an interlocutory basis. The Court should reject her argument, unsupported by law, that she may leap-frog the procedures mandated under the Liquidation Act, because waiting to appeal until she has a final judgment “would simply waste time and resources.”

2. Under the unambiguous language of the Liquidation Act, UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-27-332(1) (2002, repealed 2007), Mellor was required to object to the Liquidator’s denial of her claim within sixty days of the Second Amended NOD. She failed to do so. As a consequence, (a) the Second Amended NOD became final on August 29, 2010, the sixty-first day after the Liquidator’s determination; (b) the district court and this Court lack authority to review that determination on its merits; and (c) Mellor is permanently foreclosed from attacking that determination. This Court should therefore reject all of Mellor’s arguments challenging the Second Amended NOD.

3. Under another unambiguous provision of the Liquidation Act, UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 31A-27-335(2)(c)(iii) (2000, repealed 2007), Mellor’s claim is excluded from Class Three because Medicaid has indemnified her in full for her loss. Mellor’s attempts to evade the statute’s plain language lack merit. Mellor’s claim is not a claim under a Wasatch Crest policy because she had no coverage as of the date the liquidation took effect and she had no filed-but-unresolved claims

for benefits as of that date. Mellor's coverage had ended and Wasatch Crest had rejected her claims almost two years earlier; therefore, her claim against the Liquidation Estate arose exclusively out of her inchoate claims in the Fourth District Lawsuit, which are non-policyholder creditor claims and fall outside the scope of Class Three. Nor is Mellor prosecuting a claim of a governmental entity under a Wasatch Crest policy – neither ORS nor Medicaid filed a proof of claim against the Liquidation Estate. Finally, the indemnification exclusion from Class Three is unambiguous and plainly applies here because Medicaid paid all of Hayden's medical expenses. The Liquidation Act expressly prohibits Mellor's equitable arguments against application of the indemnification exclusion in this case, and the equities do not favor Mellor. It is fair, and consistent with the purposes underlying the Liquidation Act, to exclude from Class Three the claim of a fully-indemnified former policyholder, so that more assets of the Liquidation Estate are available to compensate policyholders and competing creditor claimants as of the liquidation date.

In truth, no inequities flow from the Second Amended NOD, denying Mellor's claim. Mellor is not out-of-pocket one cent – she owes nothing to Hayden's medical providers. Hayden's medical providers have all been paid. Medicaid chose not to protect its interest in reimbursement by filing a claim against the Liquidation Estate. The true real party in interest appears to be

Mellor’s attorneys, whose contingent attorneys’ fees will be paid based on the amount Mellor recovers on her claim, and who seek to circumvent the statutory distribution schedule. On the other side of the equation, the Liquidator has a fiduciary duty to determine and pay competing claims in accordance with the Liquidation Act. In this case, the claim was denied for failure to satisfy the Act’s substantive and procedural requirements. On these facts, even if the purported “equities” were relevant – they are not – the Liquidator reached the fair and correct determination.

ARGUMENT

I. STANDARDS OF REVIEW AND PRESERVATION OF ERROR.

Mellor has not complied with Utah Rule of Appellate Procedure 24(a)(5), which requires an appellant’s brief to state for each issue “the standard of appellate review with supporting authority,” and either “citation to the record showing that the issue was preserved in the trial court; or a statement of grounds for seeking review of an issue not preserved in the trial court.” Based on Mellor’s failure to meet these requirements, this Court would be justified in “declin[ing] to address any of [her] arguments.” *MacKay v. Hardy*, 973 P.2d 941, 947 (Utah 1998). *See also* UTAH R. APP. P. 24(k) (“Briefs which are not in compliance may be disregarded or stricken[.]”); *Beehive Tel. Co. v. Public Serv. Comm’n of Utah*, 2004 UT 18, ¶¶ 12-16, 89 P.3d 131 (“Compliance [with the Rules of Appellate

Procedure concerning briefing] is mandatory and failure to conform to these requirements may carry serious consequences.”).

This Court’s determination of its own jurisdiction, including whether a district court decision is final, is a question of law. *Anderson v. Wilshire Investments, L.L.C.*, 2005 UT 59, ¶ 7, 123 P.3d 393. “[M]atters of statutory construction are questions of law that are reviewed for correctness.” *Hill v. Estate of Allred*, 2009 UT 28, ¶ 36, 216 P.3d 929 (citations and internal quotation marks omitted).

II. THIS COURT LACKS APPELLATE JURISDICTION BECAUSE THE ORDER ON APPEAL IS NOT A FINAL JUDGMENT.

On January 21, 2011, the Liquidation Estate filed its Motion to Dismiss Appeal for lack of appellate jurisdiction. On March 31, 2011, after briefing, this Court entered its Order deferring the jurisdictional dispute until plenary presentation on the merits. The Liquidation Estate incorporates in this brief all arguments made in its January 21, 2011 Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support of dismissal.

A. Under Bedrock Law, the November 1, 2010 Order Is Not a Final Judgment.

With the exception of certain interlocutory appeals (which Mellor does not purport to pursue here), this Court’s jurisdiction is limited to appeals from final orders and judgments. *Bradbury v. Valencia*, 2000 UT 50, ¶ 9, 5 P.3d 649. The

Court has “strictly adhered to [the final judgment] rule because limiting appeals to final judgments preserves scarce judicial resources . . . [and] also maintains ‘the proper relationship between this Court and the trial courts.’” *Powell v. Cannon*, 2008 UT 19, ¶ 12, 179 P.3d 799 (citing, *inter alia*, *Loffredo v. Holt*, 2001 UT 97, ¶ 11, 37 P.3d 1070; *Bradbury*, 2000 UT 50, ¶ 11).

The district court’s November 1, 2010 Order from which Mellor appeals is not final for two independent reasons. *First*, the order confirms a stay, which is not a final judgment. The district court’s separate ruling related to the priority of Mellor’s claim is *dictum* because it was not essential to the dispositive ruling that Mellor’s claim is stayed. *Second*, even if the order could possibly be read as denying Mellor’s summary judgment motion on its merits, an order denying summary judgment is not a final judgment.

An order confirming a stay “neither end[s] the controversy between the litigants nor dispose[s] of the subject matter of the litigation.” *Powell*, 2008 UT 19, ¶ 18 (dismissing appeal from an order compelling arbitration and staying litigation, based on lack of appellate jurisdiction); *Cade v. Zions First Nat’l Bank*, 956 P.2d 1073, 1080 (Utah App. 1998). Here, the November 1, 2010 order did not end the controversy between Mellor and the Liquidator. Nor did it decide Mellor’s claim on the merits. The district court held only that Mellor’s claim against the

Liquidation Estate must be pursued in accordance with the Liquidation Act.

R. 5708. Thus, the order was not a final judgment.

An order denying summary judgment is “strictly a pretrial order,” *Switzerland Cheese Ass’n, Inc. v. E. Horne’s Market, Inc.*, 385 U.S. 23, 25 (1966), not a final order. *See also Denison v. Crown Toyota Motors, Inc.*, 571 P.2d 1359, 1360 (Utah 1977) (dismissing appeal from denial of summary judgment “because it is not a final order”). The November 1, 2010 order denied Mellor’s (procedurally improper) summary judgment motion because the Liquidation Order and Act precluded consideration of her claim except as part of the liquidation proceeding, R. 5708, *i.e.*, after Mellor filed a timely objection to the Liquidator’s Second Amended NOD. As an order that merely denied summary judgment, it is not a final and appealable judgment.

Although the district court discussed some of the issues raised in Mellor’s summary judgment motion, those comments were *dicta* because they were “not essential to the resolution of the issue in the case.” *Consolidation Coal Co. v. Emery Cty.*, 702 P.2d 121, 125 (Utah 1985). This Court does not have jurisdiction to review *dicta*. *Salt Lake Cty. Comm’n v. Salt Lake Cty. Atty.*, 1999 UT 73, ¶ 25 n.9, 985 P.2d 899 (“Because the trial court’s hypothetical discussion is *dicta* and of no precedential value, we have no occasion to pass on its legal correctness.”).

B. Mellor's Finality Arguments Lack Merit.

The Liquidator presented the above-cited authority and more in his January 21, 2011 Memorandum of Points and Authorities in support of dismissal, which he incorporates into this brief. In response, Mellor did not challenge any of the finality principles discussed above, nor did she offer any legal authority to support her premature appeal. Instead, Mellor argued that the November 1, 2010 order is a final judgment because the district court's *dicta* resolves the ultimate issue in this case, namely, the correct classification of Mellor's claim, and "[t]here is simply nothing left for the district court to decide." See Memorandum of Points and Authorities in Opposition to Motion to Dismiss Appeal, at 5 (March 25, 2011) (Mellor's Points and Authorities).

The November 1, 2010 order made clear that the district court was *not* finally determining Mellor's claim against the Liquidation Estate. The court noted the issuance of the Second Amended NOD and Mellor's "option of challenging the latest Notice of Determination" within the liquidation proceeding.⁴ R. 5706. And the court made clear that it was not issuing a decision on the merits of Mellor's claim but, instead, merely "grant[ed] WCICIL's Motion to Stay because when the Court declared Wasatch Crest insolvent, it stayed further proceedings in the

⁴ In fact, though not mentioned in the order, by that time Mellor had failed to timely object to the Second Amended NOD. See *infra* at 21-26.

underlying lawsuit.” R. 5708. Accordingly, contrary to Mellor’s characterization of the November 1, 2010 order, it did not fully resolve Mellor’s claim.

Mellor offered a second justification for her premature appeal: that she grew tired of waiting for issuance of the Second Amended NOD after *Mellor I*, and her impatience somehow imbued this Court with jurisdiction. *See* Mellor’s Points and Authorities at 3 (asserting that Mellor sought summary judgment because “[a]t no time[after *Mellor I*] did the Liquidator put in place a time frame or process to promptly and fairly resolve Mellor’s claim”). But that response is a non-sequitur because it attempts to justify only Mellor’s procedurally improper *summary judgment motion*, not her premature *appeal*.

Equally important, Mellor errs in assuming that the Liquidator was dragging his feet on her claim after remand. To the contrary, he was working to resolve important issues – classification and amount of Mellor’s claim – that were not addressed in the Amended NOD. Significantly, he learned new information once the claim was remanded – that is, Medicaid had paid all of Hayden’s medical expenses. R. 5146, ¶ 17, 5577. Upon remand, the Liquidator devoted time and energy to confirming the extent of Medicaid’s indemnification and to settlement

discussions with Mellor’s counsel. *See, e.g.*, Exs. A-C to Affidavit of Brian S, King (March 25, 2011) (King Aff.), attached to Mellor’s Points and Authorities.⁵

Even if Mellor’s frustration with the speed of redetermination after remand were legitimate – which it is not – there is no “impatience” exception to the final judgment doctrine. Mellor has posited that the Liquidator was “unreasonable” in asserting that Mellor needed to follow the Liquidation Act’s procedures. Mellor’s Points and Authorities at 8. She argues that the Liquidator’s supposedly unreasonable conduct “should excuse any procedural irregularities” in her premature appeal. *Id.* But that is not the law.

Mellor seems to believe that she may simply do whatever she thinks is most efficient in the circumstances, without regard to the procedures mandated in the Liquidation Act or the law that generally limits this Court’s jurisdiction to review of final judgments. This Court should correct her misimpression by dismissing this premature appeal based on lack of appellate jurisdiction.

⁵ In arguing for appellate jurisdiction, Mellor and her counsel have confused the separate identities of the Liquidation Estate and the ULHIGA. *See* King Aff. at ¶¶ 2-10. ULHIGA is an association authorized by statute to protect persons against failure in the performance of contractual obligation under a life, accident or health insurance policy. UTAH CODE ANN. §§ 31A-28-102 (2001). With respect to the Liquidation Estate, ULHIGA is only a creditor. *Id.*, § 31A-28-114(3)(a). It is not authorized to act on behalf of WCICIL or its Liquidator. Mellor’s counsel also mistakenly believes that WCICIL and/or the Liquidator are governed by a “board”. King Aff. at ¶¶ 7-8. The Liquidator is a court-appointed officer of the district court and there is no governing board.

III. MELLOR MAY NOT CHALLENGE THE LIQUIDATOR’S DENIAL OF HER CLAIM BECAUSE SHE FAILED TO FILE THE REQUIRED OBJECTION TO THE SECOND AMENDED NOD.

UTAH CODE ANN. § 31A-27-332(1) (2002, repealed 2007) provides in full:

(1)(a) When a claim is disallowed in whole or in part by the liquidator, written notice of the determination and of the right to object shall be given promptly to the claimant or the claimant's attorney of record, if any, by first-class mail at the addresses shown in the proof of claim.

(b)(i) Within 60 days from the mailing of the notice required by Subsection (1)(a), the claimant may file objections with the court.

(ii) *If objections are not filed within the period provided in Subsection (1)(b)(i), the claimant may not further object to the determination.*

(Emphasis added.) The statute explicitly requires a claimant to object to a liquidator’s disallowance of a claim, by filing an objection with the district court within 60 days from the date the liquidator mailed the notice of determination. Subsection 1(b)(ii) unambiguously states that a claimant’s failure to file an objection with the district court within that 60-day period precludes the claimant from “further object[ing] to the determination.” These provisions, read together, are mandatory: a failure to timely object precludes the claimant from challenging the determination.⁶

⁶ The Liquidation Act does not permit the district court to extend the 60-day deadline for filing objections. *Compare In re General Determination of Rights to*

In this case, the Liquidator served his Second Amended NOD, denying Mellor's claim, on June 29, 2010. R. 5653. The Second Amended NOD expressly advised Mellor of the objection requirement, the sixty-day deadline for filing her objection, and the consequences of a failure to do so:

If you disagree with the Liquidator's determination of your claim either in full or in part you have the right to object to the determination of your claim. *To object to the determination you must file a written objection* carrying the heading, In Re Wasatch Crest Insurance Company in Liquidation, Judge Toomey, Civil Case No. 030915527, Third Judicial District Court, 450 South Street, Salt Lake City, Utah 84111, **within sixty days from the date of this notice**. You must also send a copy of the objection to the Liquidator at the address on this letterhead. *If you fail to file a written objection with the Court and with the Liquidator, within the specified time, you will have waived your right to object and the Liquidator's determination will stand and you will have no further right of appeal.*

Id. (bolded text in original; italics added).⁷

the Use of Water, 2004 UT 106, ¶¶ 33-39, 110 P.3d 666 (construing UTAH CODE ANN. § 73-4-10 (1989) as permitting a retroactive extension of time for filing objections to the state engineer's proposed determination of water rights in a general adjudication, but only because that statute expressly permits the district court to extend the deadline for objections).

⁷ Although the claimant's and her attorney's actual knowledge has no bearing on the statutory requirement of a timely objection, it is worth noting that Mellor and her counsel undeniably did understand the requirement to file a timely objection under the Liquidation Act. Mellor followed that procedure in 2006, after the earlier determination of her claim. R. 4497-4610.

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